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HOW TO USE THIS BOOK

This work is a scrapbook containing the author's drawings and photographs
of a 60-year career in architecture. In some instances, handwritten notes appear
in the text or near pictures. The author encouraged builders and homeowners to
borrow his detailed drawings in order to replicate his designs for their use. This
scrapbook was conceived by the author to also be an easy to follow, how-to
handbook.

Please note that in some instances certain properties included in The Perennial
Apprentice no longer exist in its past form or have disappeared completely from
the First State landscape since the scrapbook was completed in 1977.
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An excellent example of Colonial architecture in Delaware, the New Castle Court House
is located in historic Old New Castle. Built in 1732, it is one of the oldest surviving
courthouses in the country. The building served as Delaware's first statehouse and was
the home of Delaware's colonial assembly. A registered National Historic Landmark
Site, the building is administered by Delaware State Museums.
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Like the early carpenters’ apprentices, George Fletcher Bennett, too, kept notes, sket-
ches, and drawings of those architectural features which appealed to him and seemed note-
worthy. He served an apprenticeship with John and Martin Kennedy, then with John Dock-
ery Thompson, and was sponsored by Walter Brown — all men respected in the architectural
profession during the first quarter of this century. Then, as a journeyman, he worked under
the aegis of Norman P. Rood of the Hercules Powder Company. By this time the name of
George Fletcher Bennett was recognized in the architectural profession.

Anxious to pursue creative design work, Mr. Bennett left industrial building planning and
began freelance work. During that period he was successful in being commissioned to design
some significant houses. It was during that time that he was urged by Earl Brooks, the
photographer, and other friends to put in print his observations and notes of the early
architecture of his native State. In 1932 the first and only definitive volume on the subject
was prepared and published by Mr. Bennett under the title, Early Architecture of Delaware.
The volume has been an invaluable source through the years because of the numerous excel-
lent architectural details and the wealth of definitive photographs of early churches, man-
sions, houses, farm buildings and outbuildings.-

As Mr. Bennett’s work increased he established the firm of Bennett & Stanhope in Wil-
mington. After an interim he sold his share of the firm and was employed as a Senior
Restoration Architect with Colonial Williamsburg and the National Park Service. At the
usual retirement age, Mr. and Mrs. Bennett returned to Delaware and setteled in Kent
County, west of Wyoming in an old house which he restored in an authentic and com-
fortable manner. Rather than retiring, he has been extremely busy with design and con-
sultant work. Notable among these projects were the north and south extensions of Legis-
lative Hall in Dover, which were so skillfully designed and constructed under his super-
vision that it is difficult to detect the old from the new. Two branch banks for the Dela-
ware Trust Company, a period law office, commercial buildings and restoration consulta-
tions give a quick summary of his latest achievements.

Similar to the craftsman of old and as exemplified by his own experience, George Flet-
cher Bennett continues to learn, to strive for quality in his workmanship, and to share his
knowledge with those seriously concerned with our architectural heritage. The present
volume is appropriately named as he continues to learn and endeavors to better his pro-
fession. He has maintained his notebooks and now has shared portions of them with those
who wish to learn. It is a wise mastercraftsman who still considers himself The Perennial
Apprentice.

Leon deValinger, Jr.
Dover, Delaware
June 25, 1977
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after its capture by the Swedes in 1653,
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A view of Fort Trefaldighet (Trinity), so called by th Swec{es, but by the
Dutch, who built it, called Fort Casimir, on the Delaware River in front of the

present site of New Castle.
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The plan shows the strategic value of the position of Fort Christina at that

time, close to the end of a tongue of fast land terminating at the Rocks, a natural

wh

arf, and flanked by marshes (N, P, Q, F). The river having since been bulk-

headed and the marshes filled in, these strategic advantages have disappeared.

Delaware Tercentenary Almanack 1937
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The Land the First Settlers Found

Except where it was cut through by little rivers, and where some marsh or morass lay open and where
the Indians had cleared their little fields, the land that is now the State of Delaware was, in 1638, cov-
ered by a primeval forest, a forest that had never known an axe.

The deep black soil, enriched by rotted leaves that had fallen year by year for thousands of years,
bore mighty oaks rising 60 or 80 feet before a single limb thrust itself from their rude columns. Tower-
ing tulip trees reared their smooth trunks to great heights. Huge beeches with silvered boles, rough
barked chestnuts, walnuts, hickories, maples, buttonwoods and ash trees strove with each other for
space to spread their branches. Pines, straight and slim, stood close-ranked like masts in a forest of
ships. Cypress grew thick in the swamps and willows lined the streams. Among the greater trees the
lesser, sassafras, dogwood, hornbeam, holly, alder, and a multitude of shrubs elbowed each other, and
everywhere, spreading over the lower trees, climbing among the branches of the loftiest, grapeviles
flung a tangled network. Huge tree-trunks, fallen through age or overthrown by storms, lay here and
there. Bogs, formed by clogged streams or in naturally undrained spaces, grew rank with reeds and
marsh-plants. Only by the few Indian trails was such a forest penetrable without vast difficulty and real
danger.

Every kind of vegetable life that flourishes in a temperate and humid climate grew in this fertile soil
in profusion. Wild fruits, mulberries, cherries, plums, blackberries, raspberries, strawberries and grapes
abounded. Medicinal plants and herbs, specifics for many ailments, flourished in the woods and marshes.

Wild animal life was more varied and abundant than anywhere on this continent today. Beasts of
prey, bears, wolves, panthers, wildcats, infested the forest. Elk and deer roamed through it. Foxes, rac-
coons, opossums, minks, weasels, skunks, rabbits and squirrels were there in multitudes. Beavers, fishers,
otters and muskrats haunted the ponds and streams.

There were birds of prey, too, eagles, hawks, and kites, owls, buzzards and crows. Game-birds were
plentiful, turkeys of great size, partridges, pheasants, quail, woodcock and snipe, swans, geese and
ducks. Song-birds filled the air with their melody. Wild pigeons were so numerous that, flying in vast
flocks, they darkened the sun as to clouds.

The River yielded fish in inexhaustible plenty. Halibut, mackerel, rock, bass, pike, trout, perch,
catfish and eels were abundant. Herring swarmed in incredible numbers.

Down where the Bay met the ocean, the sportive porpoise leaped from the waves and the jovial
whale wallowed in the deeper waters. On the shores the suspicious crab scuttled sidewise over the
sands, while the cautious clam and the saturnine oyster reposed in their beds.

Christopher L. Ward












THE PERENNIAL APPRENTICE

The thin partitions commonly observed in the old houses were not
built of studding in the manner familiar to us, but of rough boards
about 1 inch by 8 inches nailed against each other, each side of each
board lapping about one inch upon its neighbour. Over the whole on
both sides of the partition thus roughly formed the lath and plaster
were laid. The finished thickness, therefore, would never exceed ,
4 inches and many such partitions measure but 3% inches. "x» N
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Clapboards were split or rived, in-
-— stead of sawn boards. They were
“~— much shorter in length and narrower
~—_ than weatherboards, having an expo-
e .

& sure of 4 to 4Y2 inches.

Ashland Mills.

Red Clay Creek

Rot is the worst enemy of the timber frame. It is found in
the ground-sill, the feet of posts, the upper surface of horizon-
tal timbers in external walls, and the end grain of summers
and girders bearing upon external walls. It is also apt to occur
in joints, especially at the feet of braces in external walls.  Hugh Braun,

gy
(London: 1954) s~






@.} SCRAP BOOK 1977

The Dutch, the Swedes, and the English found abundant clay
deposits near the Delaware shores; and bringing with them centuries
of tradition in the use of brick, it was their ambition to build in this
material so soon as their means permitted. The first bricks made in
the Anglian colonies, says Bishop, were produced in Virginia in
1612. At New Castle bricks were made in 1656. Ferris, the historian
of the Swedish settlements on the Delaware, remembered seeing in his
youth the house at New Castle in which Governor Lovelace entertained
George Fox in 1672. The timber appeared to have been hewed. The
walls were of brick and the lime of the mortar had been made from
oyster shells before any limestone had been discovered. Robert
Turner, writing to William Penn, June 8, 1683, says, “ Bricks are
exceedingly good, and cheaper than they were, say at 16 shillings per
thousand, and brick houses are now as cheap to build as wood. Many
brave brick houses are going up with good cellars.”

The Dutchat New Amsterdam were active brickmakers, and there are
records of bricks being sent from there to the South (Delaware)
River. When the handfuls of Colonists lay widely separated, and
mere distance, not to mention other obstacles, was a barrier to trade
between them, it would have been natural for the South River folk to
have called these bricks “ imported,” as, in the sense of those days,
they were. It is doubtful if there are a half dozen Colonial buildings
existing to-day, whose bricks, it can be said with certainty, were
brought from England or the Continent. * English statute bricks,”
says an old encyclopedia, “ are 9% inches long by 4% by 2% inches.”
In only one building® illustrated in this volume do the bricks exceed
8% inches in length.

*The Ridgely House, Dover, Delaware. !
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HE invention that moulded the character of American archi-
tecture was the saw-mill. Had the country been settled before
its introduction we should have seen in the primitive buildings

the method of framing walls with hand-hewn heavy dimensioned
timber, the spaces between filled with brick or stone “ nogging,” and
which constitutes the half-timbered style of architecture general in
England and Northern Europe. Indeed in the first buildings reared
in Philadelphia, after the cave and hut period, the structures were
so contrived. But the addition of brick not only filled the voids of
the wood skeleton, but covered and concealed it. Soon, however,
walls were built wholly of brick. Timbers, hand-hewn, because of
their large dimensions, were used for the floor joists and girders.
All other parts consisting of wood were sawn. These at first were the
output of hand sawyers, who were greatly in demand. The boards
were used for floors and partitions. Plastering lath and shingles
were split by hand. Clapboards were split and then shaved to make
their opposite edges of unequal thickness.

When America was being settled, saw-mills were known in
Europe, though hardly established in England. Finding themselves
among illimitable forests, the pioneers on our shores lost little time
in erecting them. The Dutch had constructed wind saw-mills on
Manhattan Island by the year 1683; and the Dutch and Swedish
settlers beside the Delaware were early in possession of saw-mills
driven by both wind and water. In West Jersey, after its coming
under the dominion of Penn and his associates, we find an English-
man, William Hampton, building a saw-mill at Salem in 1683. In
1698 the manufacture of lumber had so increased as to be extensively
exported. And yet for a number of years saw-mills do not appear
to have been very numerous in and about Philadelphia. Although
the Assessors reported forty saw-mills in the County of Philadelphia
in 1760, lumber was in no wise such a staple of the building trade here
as it was in New England. The output of the saw-mill, however,
was available in all the Colonies, and the architecture assumed its
form accordingly. Wood, instead of being used as in huts and
cabins in large solid form, was cut by the mills into boards, which
were wrought into multifarious forms, making possible the beautiful
wood detail so characteristic of Colonial architecture.

By Herbert C. Wise
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SideElevation— Where the
= ' —+—— lean-to was a subsequent addition, it contained a
~Fronr Elevation - kitchen and sometimes a small bed-chamber.
A fireplace was added and a flue built up along
- the back of the original chimney, whose form,
above the roof, now became T-shaped instead of
rectangular.
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The east side of Wilmington was a city of
tranquil streets. More than fifty fine little houses
are gone. The town pump and the City Market at
2nd and Market Streets are gone. I see little hope
of anything better than age upon age of apart-
ments, of lives without homes and without bene-
fit of a property with soil as remembered by this
writer!
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In 1631 the Swedes and Fiins, allured by the publication of Wil-
liam Usselinx,a Dutch trader, effected a colony under the patronage
of their government at Cape Henlopen,} (called afterwards Cape
James, by William Penn,) at a place near the present Lewestown,
which they called Point Paradise.

In 1631, also, the Swedes laid out Stockholm (New Castle) and
Christiana, (now Wilmington,) on Minquas creek. They thence
spread themselves further along the Delaware.

4%  In the year 16834 the emigration was very great. They came
* from England, Ireland, Wales, Holland, and Germany. Few or
none of the French took any fancy to us, although it was the opinion
of Penn that they would, end that they would much profit here by
the cultivation of the grape, which then every where abounded in
surprising excelience and profusion. The Germans from Oresheim,
near Worms, were nearly all of them Friends, and all of them made
their settlement at Germantown. By this emigration, says Sewall,
they providentially avoided the desolation of a French war, which
soon after laid waste their former possessions. The Welsh made a
: very respectable emigration at this time. They bought up 40,000
SEAL OF PENN’S cOLONY. acres of land, in 1682, and formed their settlements after the names
of their native homes,—in Merion, Haverfield, Radnor, Newtown,

?@ Goshen, and Uwechland.
Penn’s letter to Lord North, of 7th mo., 1683, saith, * Twenty-
two sail more have arrived since I came. There are about 300
farms (of the new comers,) settled as contiguously as may be. Since
last summer we have had about sixty sail of great and small ship-
ping, which is a good beginning.” To the Marquis of Halifax,
under date of 12mo. 9th, 1683, he says with much truth, “I must,
without vanity, say that I have led the greatest colony into America
that ever any man did upon a private credit, and the most prosperous
beginnings that ever were in it are to be found among us!” Such
self-gratulation was honest and well merited. Indeed we cannot
forbear to expatiate a little on the superior tact and talent which he
manifested for a founder, by comparing his rapid success with the
slow progress of those who preceded him. For, when we consider
how long the Swedee were in possession before Penn came,—say
half a century,—we cannot but feel astonished at the very little
ability they manifested in producing any thing great or important,
commensurate with their opportunities. We neither see nor hear
of any public acts, by any of their leading men, to bring themselves
or country into notice. Not unlike our present frontier squatters,
they seem to have set down contented in their log and clay huts,—
their leather breeches, jerkins and match coats for their men,—and
their skin jackets, and linsey petticoats for their women. But no
sooner has the genius of Penn been enlisted in the enterprise, than
we see it speak a city and commerce into instant existence. His
irit animated every part of his colony; and the consequence was,
at the tame and unaspiring Swedes soon lost their distinctive cha-
racter and existence as a separate race. Watson 1840
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(@ SCRAP BOOK 1977
The historical and structural surveys of the building having

been made, the next stage is to conduct a dilapidation survey.
The first item which will concern the restorer architect will
be the state of the foundations as evidenced by the condition
of the walling. Uneven settlement along walls will be noted,
also subsidences through unequal loading, especially near

chimney stacks. Signs of toppling will be followed up by
plumbing the wall-section; possible overturning pressure

from a roof will be considered. Bulges will be sighted for and
measured.

Soil conditions will be investigated and the possibility of
water-infiltrations considered; the proximity of wells, cis-
terns, and cesspits, will be noted.

Rubble walling must be examined for disintegration of the
structure; in masonry walling the faces have to be tested for
assurance that they are still securely adhering to the core. The
surface of the stone must be examined for decay; spalls indi-
cate movement and if numerous require consideration. Point-
ing must be checked over for its security (and usually for its
aesthetic appearance). Vegetation attacking the wall, pre-
venting its breathing, or harbouring damp must be noted.
All fractures or settlements must be plotted on the elevations
and walls out of plumb sectioned. (To keep a plumb-bob
steady on a windy day, hang it in a pail of water or, better
still, a tin of oil.)

In the case of timber buildings the main sills must be ex-
amined for decay,also the feet of the main posts. Timber struc-
tures fail through decay or fracture at the joints; the principal
ones should therefore be inspected for signs of failure. Settle-
ments are generally due to decay at the feet of main posts.

By far the worst danger to timber is that presented by the
fungoid attack popularly known as ‘dry rot’. This feeds upon
wood and destroys it, propagating by dispersing spores which
infect everything within reach. It makes its home in badly
ventilated areas of the building and flourishes upon dampness.

Hugh Braun, The Restoration
of Old Houses (London: 1954)
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Philadelphia never had the variety of fanlight designs found in other
places, e.g. Baltimore, but as the years went by metal muntins often took
the places of wooden members and the joints were covered with lead rosettes
sprigged on and gold-leafed. False muntins of lead or wood strips often
divided the glass panes visually.

THE CARPENTERS’ COMPANY 1786 RULE BOOK

Window Glass.— The early buildings in Philadelphia had all their win-
dow glass set in leaden frames, and none of them to hoist up, but to open
inwards as doors. When clumsy wooden frames were substituted, panes
of six by eight and eight by ten formed the largest dimensions seen among
us. It became, therefore, matter of novelty and surprise when Governor John
Penn first set the example among us of larger panes,—such as now adorn

the house, once his residence, in South Third street near the Mansion House,
1877.

29



Here, as in Europe, the lattice or wicket of the log hut gave way first
to paper greased with linseed or other oil. This, in turn, was to pass before
small lights of glass leaded together and set in leaded frames or casements
hinged at one side.

The kinds of glass common in Colonial days were five in number.
First was the crown glass, which was the clearest and most expensive and
the best for windows. The Newcastle glass was also easily had here, as it
was the most commonly used window glass in England. Phial-glass was
an intermediate quality between flint and the common bottle or green
glass. The latter was prepared from any kind of sand fused with wood ashes
to which was added the clinkers of forges. Plate glass was considered the
most valuable of all glass and was used chiefly for mirrors and carriage
windows. Kelp was substituted for pearl ashes at one, of the American
factories, and more recently the substitution of soda for potash has re-
duced the cost of manufacture. It was impossible to make the composi-
tion of the glass chemically pure, and manganese, or foreign matter among
the silicates, in being affected by long exposure to the sun’s rays, in time
imparted to the glass sometimes an amber, but more frequently a violet
hue, of varying intensity.

30
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THE PERENNIAL APPRENTICE

One of the first iron deposits discovered were those at Iron Hill, a short
distance southwestward of the present city of Wilmington, and which
travellers by train can to-day identify by the bright colour of the earth
exposed by the railroad cut. It was probably not far from there that Keith
himself possessed ironworks during his administration (1717-1726).

Nails were all wrought by hand, and soon in sufficient quantities to
export. George Megee, nailer, at Front and Arch Streets, Philadelphia,
advertised in 1731 all sorts of deck and other nails of his own mangfacture.
“The aggregate of nails produced throughout the Province, in smal
conducted by common blacksmiths or others, was probably very
able. It was one of those branches in which the country earlie;
independent of British supplies.” *

and received their early training in England. The trades mentioned sawyers, carpenters,L Fo
“joyners,” thatchers, brickmakers, plasterers, “ryvers of clapboards, shingles and lathes,” g -

“naylers,” and “massons.” Owing to the system in vogue at the time, nearly every man who .\
did not till the soil or engage in some branch of commerce had a trade, and the artisans of o
various sorts were highly specialized and skillfully trained, thanks largely to the prevalent ™ 7,
custom of serving out long apprenticeships. This fact accounts largely for the skill with which
so much of the early work was done, and also for the surprising similarity of the ways in &
which like conditions were met by groups of men working in different localities. When trained
workmen of a conservative stamp are confronted by a given problem, it is quite to be expected
that they will solve it and execute their solution in accordance with their early training— 7
that is, in the way to which they are most accustomed. et o3

»

* There were, in 1797, three manufacturies of cut nails and one of patent nails in Philadelphia.—Bishop.

33












LE

@.;- SCRAP BOOK 1977
MEMOIRS, ANECDOTES, AND INCIDENTS

EARLIEST SETTLEMENTS OF THE INLAND PART OF PENNSYLVANIA

It is a faét, that the Declaration of Independence was oot actually
signed on the 4th July, nor was there that intrepid andconcument
enthusiasm 1n all the inembers of Congress which has been generally
imputed. 'The facts, as I have seen them stated by Judge M'Kean,
were in substance these, viz.: On the 1st July the question of Jnde-
pendence was taken in committee of the whole, when the whole
seven representatives of Pennsylvania voted against it, and Dela-
ware, which had but zwo members present, divided. These were
the only states which so demurred! It was at this crisis that Judge
M’Kean sent an express for Casar Rodney, the other member for
Delaware ; and soon after his arival, the important question was put,
when Mr. Rodney arose, and in a few words said he spoke the voice
of his constituents and his own, in casting his vote for Independence.
On the 4th of July, five representatives from Pennsylvania (Dickin-
son and Morris, who before voted against it, being absent,) gave theit
votes three to two, Messrs. Humphries and Willing voting in the ne-

gative. 7%
The early fettlers | Among thefe were T %‘V’f}'
of Pennfylvania were | Quakers, Moravians,
remarkable in many | Mennonites, Dunk-
ways. William Penn |ards and  Solitary
d upon his !Brethren.
prepared upon his |Brethren Fuly, 1842.

immenfe land-grant :
a refuge for all ELIJAH THOMAS =

religious fectss
10

No person actually signed on the 4th July. Mr. Read, whose
name appears among the list of subscribers, was thenmﬁ%gm
it; and Morris, Rush, Clymer, Smith, Taylor and Ross, whosa
names also appear, were not members on that day, for, in truth, the
were not np%omled delegates by the State Convention till the 20tk
July. The Declaration was only ordered to be engrossed on parch-
ment oo the 4th July, and it was not until many days after 1fat all
‘lh'e'.""_"'names were affixed ; for instance, Thornton of New Hampshire
who entered Congress in November, then placed bis name _and
Judge M’Kean, though he was once present and voted for In:iepen-
dence, did not sign till afier his return from Washington’s camp
where he had gone at the head of his regiment of City Associators,
of temporary soldiers, gone out to support the general ungil the for-
mation of the flying camp of 10,000 ;

It has been said that it was a seciZ]
no member of the first year should &
& subscriber * jhis, as a measure to y#
informere_B47 :
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finish was put in place before plastering was done and served as a ground or surface to which the
plaster was made flush or about flush at completion. Just the right amount of plaster was used to
enhance the value and beauty of the wood surfaces of cither painted or moulded or plain beaded
boards.
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RIDGELY HOUSE

The Green, north side, east of State Street, Dover
’ / ’ The house when

originally built in 1728 had a frontage of 87 feet and consisted of a
living-room and * best-room” downstairs and two rooms and attic
above.

Between 1740 and 1750 the house was purchased by the Ridgelys,
who added two rooms on each floor at the back. The roof of 1728 is
still to be seen under the larger roof of c. 1745. About this time also
a one-storey office 1134 feet wide was added at the west for Charles
Ridgely, who was a physician. In 1817 or 1820 an additional storey
and attic were added to the office. In the room over the office, which
was known as the “ office chamber,” the master of the house, then
Henry M. Ridgely, a lawyer, could lodge a client from a distance
over night when necessary. The kitchen portion of the ¢. 1745 addi-
tion, having yielded to decay, was rebuilt about 1883.

In 1910 the present cornice
and doorway were constructed from drawings prepared by an archi-
tect, and other parts of the commonplace trim of thirty years ago
partially replaced. The sashes we now see were made in 1910 from
an original sash which had been preserved.

Hardly 18 feet above the pavement is the eave. The wall of
this modest proportion is built of larger bricks than those of any
house shown in this volume. For half a century these bricks had been
painted, and, before that, treated with whitewash and red brick stain.
The present owner had them successfully cleaned with lye applied
by the untiring hand of a faithful old negro, who day by day brought
new gangs of men to aid. Some parts were cleansed seven times.
The end of the house, seen from the east, reveals the enlargment of
c.1745. Ilere, the centre of the chimney is 10%4 feet from the street.
As it was formerly in the centre of the gable, by doubling this dis-
tance, 2024 feet are obtained as the depth of the original structure. The
rear addition now makes the total depth of the house 87% feet.
Similarly the front door was once in the centre of the house before

the office was added to the west. The low ceilings, but 81% feet in the

first storey, and 8 in the second, give no little charm to the inside of
the house, and cause the squat and comfortable character of the ex-
terior. There are traces upon the front between the second-storey
window-sills of a former pent roof. All walls of the house are
plastered except the front, where the aged bricks, exposed again to
the light of day, present a delightful blending of mellow tones.

By Herbert C. Wise 1913
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Georglan Brickwork

Flemish Bond is regarded by many architects and builders as the
most desirable of all bonds. Each course is laid up of alternating
stretchers and headers, a header resting upon the middle of each stretcher.
A wall laid in Flemish bond, therefore, presents a succession of Greek
crosses, and is easily made more effective by using brick of different
tones and textures at certain points. The basic principle upon which
Flemish bond is laid may be extended indefinitely, and what is known as
Garden Wall bond is secured merely by using two or more stretchers
instead of one between two headers. Both English and Flemish bonds
require the use of ‘‘closers,” which are split headers, one set next to the
header brick occurring at an angle or at any vertical line, such as window
or door openings, in every other course.

Difficulty is sometimes experienced in getting an
absqlute allgnment of vertlcal ]omts in Engllsh .bO’Id -
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““Georgian’’ is a somewhat elastic term. Strictly defined, it em-
braces the 86 years covered by the reigns of the four Georges from 1714
to 1820, but such definitions and dates have no proper relation to ar-
chitectural development which is always a gradual thing.
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The hall and the rooms are equipped with the complete wood
detail characteristic of the period, but the most remarkable and in-
teresting feature of the Corbit House is the splendid drawing-room
upon the second floor. In being found there it is common with some
of the finest Colonial houses of the South. Although the ceiling
height of 10 feet 9 inches is four inches lower than that of the first
storey, it is far from according ill with the other proportions of a room
that is about 16 by 28 feet, and panelled on all sides from floor to
ceiling. Some of the horizontal lines, such as the skirting and the
chair-rail, are enriched throughout their length with hand-carved
patterns. The stately chimney-piece, the rich cornice, the well-pro-
portioned panelling, all contribute to a complete and consistent
scheme. To the extent of our knowledge this is the only example
of such a room existing in the region this volume attempts to cover.
Cherished heirlooms in the shape of numerous pieces of contemporary
furniture add much effect to the interior of the house. The clock
upon the stair was made by no less skilled a hand than that of the
locally famed Duncan Beard. Within it the curious visitor may still
see the original lead weights. That they are of this material testifies
to the loyalty of the Corbits to the King’s cause, for those who cast
their lot with the American patriots cast also the lead they possessed
into the bullet mould. Much of the furniture was made by John
Janvier, another craftsman locally celebrated, and worthy to be re-
membered as an artist joiner whose touch was well-nigh magic upon
the wonderful wood then known as ““ walnut,” and since as mahogany.

The hipped roof of the house is pitched at the angle of 84° 43’
and contains six dormers, a seventh having been transformed some-
time in 188 into a stair reaching the attic, so that an original stair
serving this purpose could be removed from a second-storey room.
The house is now owned and occupied by Daniel W. Corbit, Esq »a
descendant of the original proprietor. ¢ /4,44y ? S5

Where missing portions of a building are to be replac

copyism may not only be permitted but encouraged.

Hugh Braun, The Restoration of .5
Old Houses (London: 1954) ; i
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KENSEY JOHNS HOUSE
Third and Delaware Streets, facing The Green, New Castle
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The panelling and other interior woodwork items are admirable and quite what one would expect from
the promise of the exterior. The stair and the mantels, with their marble fireplace facings, deserve special
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THE PERENNIAL APPRENTICE

THE scattered survivals of the colonial era of home
building in Maryland and Delaware have certain great
similarities of construction, but they are more closely
bound together by ties of blood than by architectural
detail. The colonial mansions of the latter little Com-
monwealth show decided evidence of Dutch influence in
their construction, while those of the former present
probably as pure examples as will be found of the Eng-
lish adaptation of the classic motive in building, which
forms the backbone of the Georgian school. Side by
side however, geographically speaking, the eastern
shore of Maryland and the whole of little Delaware
being isolated by the Delaware and Chesapeake bays,
the two States are very closely connected genealogically.

One great distinction between the colonial homes
of Maryland and Delaware relates to the comparatively
unimportant matter of size. The homes of Maryland
are of much bolder conception than those of Delaware.

There are many reasons for this, but on the surface it is gar:':»,

apparent that Delaware, with its unsettled early days— :_.::é,:é
founded by the Dutch, wrangled over by the Swedes, Qg\g\é}a
and finally wrested from both of these natianalities by -'—-—%f
the strong hand of the English—would not attract as ‘;-'%,gt

wealthy a class of settler as Maryland, nor would its
people spring from a stock with as imperative a tradi-

tion of luxurious living as those of the cavalier life in
the Southern State. In point of charm and historic
interest, however, one finds as much to please the
imagination and the eye in the homes of Delaware as in
those of any other State of the Union.

Hammond, John Martin. Colonial Man-

sions of Maryland and Del
. y elaware

A long chapter might be written of the beautiful
colonial homes in Maryland and Delaware which have
passed away in the memory of the last generation.
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BELMONT HALL

Perhaps the most celebrated house in Delaware, considering the
historic events of which it has formed the scene, is Belmont Hall, on the
southern outskirts of Smyrna. It displays a different type of house
plan. Imagine two 2-storey buildings each 18 by 16 feet, standing 14
feet apart, the longer axis of each paralleling that of the other. In
front of these and joined to them, picture another building whose
length was approximately equal to the two wings and the space be-
tween. We have then a crude letter U, and such was and is the plan of
Belmont Hall. The little wings at the rear were built, it is stated,
in 1684, and the front portion was added shortly afterward. This
latter portion, however, was superseded in the year 1770 by a new
front portion, which is the one standing to-day. It is nearly 46 feet
wide and 2174 feet deep.

Having acquired the property at that time, the improvement was
made by Thomas Collins, who was Brigadier-General of the Dela-
ware Militia in 1777, and afterwzyds Govex-ng,v of the State.

) ﬁé{‘\ﬁ\ H.C. Wise
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SKETCH-PLAN, “BELMONT HALL”
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¢ so that the arch in the church is in danger of breaking; the wall can be made so as to serve as L

{ a protection in stormy weather and from the heat of summer. The roof was found much de-
cayed. The bell needs recasting, having been cracked for many years. The church should
be rid of the nests of birds which are built under the arch over the pews. The north and west
doors which are entirely decayed should be made anew.”

This work was apparently done in the summer of 1751, for reference is made by Herr Acre-
_ lius in 1753 of payment having been made for the “side arches of the church.” A note by the
translator is to the effect that these arches were built in 1740, although no reference to them
seems to appear in the church records. At all events, it is believed that the present arched porch
on the south side of the church edifice was built about the middle of the eighteenth century and,
1 no doubt, the work was carried out under the energetic direction of Israel Acrelius, who seems
to have been the only pastor since Bjork to have taken such interest in the church at Christina. 3

¢

Returning to that earlier time, one finds Pastor Bjork vigorously pushing forward the
5 work on the church during the winter of 1698 and the spring of 1699. John Harrison, an expert
joiner from Philadelphia, had been engaged to help Smart in place of the “comrade’” who failed
him. To John Harrison had been assigned “all ye Inside work . . . that js all ye pews and
Windows, shot work and the Pulpit with a canape over it and a pew of each side of ye communion

Table and also with Reals and Banisters about ye church . . . and finish all the Sealing Joice
which is to doe and fitt In ye sealing of ye Roof . . . and to doe with plained Boards over

ye three doors In ye church where it is left undone.”

All this was necessary because John Smart, deserted by Britt and left alone with heavy
work, fell ill and the work lagged. Eventually another John, a Quaker named Davis, came down
to help and then came John Harrison and between them and aid given by members of the con-
gregation most of the roof was on by Christmas of 1698. Eric Bjork was pleased with Harrison’s
workmanship and when the joiner and John Smart quarreled about money, the minister made
up the difference out of his own pocket in order that the work might go forward. Later on he
was to go into his pocket again and make up a sum of one hundred and thirty-five pounds, eight
shillings and sixpence to clear off the remaining debt against the building that “it seems safe to
say”, he writes, “in round numbers, as it now within a year (Glory be to God) is come to be
finished, has cost 800 pounds Pennsylvania currency.”

; The quittance in full for the w_oa on the wall runs as. ‘é
follows:

' English—I, underwritten Joseph Yard of the Citty of Phila-
¢ delphia mazon doe acknowledge that [ am fully satisfyed that is.
é for laying the stone work of ye church at Christeen, which is
sixty six foot long, and thirty six foot broad from out to out,
and twenty foot high, for which I have Received of ye Reverend
minister Ericus Biork, that is Eighty and six pounds in Silver
Mouney and likewise I have Received in full for my Morter Labourer
the Neger five pounds four shill., and six pence and this Receipt [
have given to satisfy the church Wardens and Congregation of
Christeen Church, that [ am fully satisfyed, as

Witness my hand, Aug. rzth, 1698,
at Christeen. Josern Yarp.

w——v. —— —
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FRIENDS’ MEETING HOUSE, CAMDEN 1806

The Friends in Delaware, as elsewhere, were ardent advocates of a liberal education. = g

The Friends' Union Academy at Camden, organized in 1815, was for many years one of . 51.53
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the most advanced institutions of learning in the State.
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In the woodwork of both the 17th and the 18th cen-
turies the element of craftsmanship is important. The
work of intelligent men, proud of a manual skill passed
on from master to apprentice or from father to son,
produced an ever fresh handling of well-known forms
that were acceptable to several generations.
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Architecture is more an art of

| . .. .
reason than of imagination; and there is hardly any great
feature of beauty or deformity in a building, the propriety or
absurdity of which could not be made obvious to the most
ordinary understanding, even if the possessor of that under-
standing had paid very little attention previously to the subject.
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The architect of the present day may easily have a
passing thought of envy in considering the directness,
the co-ordination of artistic ways and means, that ex-

isted here in the 18th century.
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Moulding forms had changed from the profiles a-

dapted from the simpler orders to quirk-moulds of fine
scale; there were delicate beading, elliptical sections
and areas. An ornamental treatment was evolved by

forming running patterns of gouge cuts and small

borings usually in the frieze of a cornice.
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RCHITECTURE is the art which so disposes and
' adorns the edifices raised by man for whatsoever N
uses, that the sight of them contributes to his men-§<;

;"5,;' tal health, power, and pleasure. -
B?"(;i' : It is very necessary, in the outset of all inquiry, to dis- [
"‘; . H tinguish carefully between Architecture and Building. =
ie To build, literally to confirm, is by common under-§ '

standing to put together and adjust the several pieces of "f}

any edifice or receptacle of a considerable size.
Let us, therefore, at once confine the name to that art Lot

it which, taking up and admitting, as conditions of its work- § -
 ing, the necessities and common uses of the building, im- =4,
presses on its form certain characters venerable or beau- gzS73

< sagx feature, as a cable moulding, that is Architecture. If
. "these projecting masses be carved beneath into rounded

4 courses, which are useless, and if the headings of the inter-
." wvals be arched and trefoiled, which is useless, that is Archi-
tecture. It may not be always easy to draw the line so .-
sharply and simply, because there are few buildings which
have not some pretence or colour of being architectural;
neither can there be any architecture which is not based {
on building, nor any good architecture which is not based
on good building; but it is perfectly easy and very neces-
sary to keep the ideas distinct, and to understand fully that
Architecture concerns itself only with those characters of
an edifice which are above and beyond its common use,

John Ruskin

:]OHN RUSKIN was born in London, in February,
1819. He was the only son of a wine merchant, a
man of great intelligence, and a sincere lover of
those forms of fine art which came in his way—namely,
those at all accessible to a London citizen during the years
following the Napoleonic wars.” re——

ms

Russell Sturgis
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These illustrations copied from Joseph Pennell’s and Frank Hays’ drawings indicate their
fine appreciation and knowledge of architectural design and detail. The apprentice should be

aware of this and study the works of men like Pennell, Hays, and our own Pyle, Shaw, Arthurs,
Schoonover, Wyeth, Ashley and others.
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OLD COTTAGES AND FARMHOUSES IN KENT AND SUSSEX.
English cottages and farm-houses are almost always pleasing in
themselves and in harmony with their surroundings.

The cottages of Kent and Sussex possess many points and
characteristics in common, and no attempt therefore is made to deal
with them here from any novel standpoint, or to trace their his-
torical or architectural evolution, but merely to draw attention to
some of the typical features both in their design and construction.

The domestic abodes of the poor in rural districts during the
Middle Ages owing to the poverty of their materials and the fragile
manner of their construction, have long since disappeared, so that
we know but little of their nature and extent, but in the earliest
times they must have been but few in number, for many of the
people lived and slept under the roof of the masters’ house, and
were dependent on him for their maintenance. It was only in
later years, when some sort of independance had been attained
that they had separate abodes, and even then they must have lived
in a miserable state of squalor and wretchedness, for, with walls of
rough unhewn stone, roofs of thatch or straw, windows unglazed
and floors of bare earth, they could have been but comfortless
dwellings.

It may be said without fear of contradiction, that the love of
neatness and order is one of the national characteristics of English-
men, and to a great extent this trait is borne out in the manner in
which the cultivated portions of the country are treated—fields set
out and bordered by hedges and fences, the roads well kept up and
cared for, and every man, whether a large landowner, or village
labourer, concerned either with his many acres, or his simple cottage
garden.

And if this is so noticeable in the country itself, in the houses
and cottages it is even more so, for here each seems built for com-
fort and convenience, and suits its position, showing more than

anything else that what is best adapted for its purpose, is the most
beautiful.
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AN AFTERWORD

The author is fully aware that these pages show a broken and disjointed
form - both because of the necessary division into numerous heads and sections
and because the diversity of subject matter written and illustrated in snatches
of time, just as he could catch the thought or possess the occasion - never
with the advantage of a second writing for its improvement. Critics may
condemn this.

Such critics may not in their whole lives contribute even a fraction of
their labors to the public record of successful apprenticeship and pride of
craftsmanship. This writer makes no claim to academic or literary ambitions.
He leaves that to the “architectural historians”. The author desires only to
convince the young man or woman who would be an architect to restore with
care and respect the products of past masters.

To direct the work of “restoration’’ or renovation one must not only
know what forms it shall take but be able to provide the “work of his hands™
if called upon!

“PROVE ALL THINGS, HOLD FAST THAT WHICH IS GOOD.”
I Thess. 5:12

The writer would remind the owner of a copy of this book that it is a
working scrap book with no index since the apprentice soon will know where
every item is in the volume, or should know. -~

7%

Camden, Delaware
September 18, 1977

The real intent and meaning of what hath been done is, that every
gentleman concerned in building may have the value of his money, and
that every workman may have the worth of his labour.

From The Carpenters’ Company of the City of Philadelphia 1786 Rule Book



The end sheets are reproduced from 1840 original oil cloth used as “wallpapeér” in the author’s 1740 home.
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